S266003

S

**IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

MIKAYLA HOFFMANN, a Minor, etc.,
Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

CHRISTINA M. YOUNG et al.,
Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION SIX
CASE No. B292539

PETITION FOR REVIEW

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP
*CHRISTOPHER D. HU (BAR No. 293052)
SAN FRANCISCO OFFICE
DEAN A. BOCHNER (BAR No. 172133)
JOSHUA C. MCDANIEL (BAR No. 286348)
BURBANK OFFICE
3601 WEST OLIVE AVENUE, 8TH FLOOR
BURBANK, CALIFORNIA 91505-4681
(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (844) 497-6592
chu@horvitzlevy.com
dbochner@horvitzlevy.com
jmcDaniel@horvitzlevy.com

HENDERSON & BORGESON
JAY M. BORGESON (BAR No. 128763)

ISSUE PRESENTED

Under Civil Code section 846, a landowner generally owes no duty of care to persons who enter or use the property for a recreational purpose. There is an exception, however, for “persons who are expressly invited rather than merely permitted to come upon the premises by the landowner.” (Civ. Code, § 846, subd. (d)(3).) This petition presents a question that has divided the Courts of Appeal and the federal courts: Can an invitation by a nonlandowner, made without the landowner’s knowledge or express approval, abrogate the landowner’s recreational use immunity?

INTRODUCTION WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Civil Code section 846 (section 846) protects property owners from liability arising from the recreational use of their property. Under the statute, a property owner “owes no duty of care to keep the premises safe for entry or use by others for any recreational purpose,” or to warn of hazardous conditions on the property. (§ 846, subd. (a).) Section 846 is often called the recreational use immunity statute. (See *Hubbard v. Brown* (1990) 50 Cal.3d 189, 195.)

This immunity is intended to be “extremely broad” (*Ornelas v. Randolph* (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1095, 1105 (*Ornelas*)) and is subject to only a few, narrow exceptions. This petition involves what is known as the “‘express invitation’” exception. (*Jackson v. Pacific Gas & Elec. Co.* (2001) 94 Cal.App.4th 1110, 1116

(*Jackson*.) That exception withholds recreational use immunity if the plaintiff was “expressly invited rather than merely permitted to come upon the premises by the landowner.” (§ 846, subd. (d)(3).)

On its face, the exception applies only to persons “expressly invited . . . by the landowner.” (§ 846, subd. (d)(3).) Nothing in the statute suggests that an express invitation by a *nonlandowner* can trigger the exception, yet courts have taken conflicting stances on the issue. In keeping with the statute’s text, several decisions say that the exception applies only when the invitation is issued *by the landowner*. (See, e.g., *Johnson v. Unocal Corp.* (1993) 21 Cal.App.4th 310, 317 (*Johnson*.) Other decisions suggest, as a variation on that rule, that the exception will encompass an invitation by a nonlandowner if the landowner expressly authorizes the invitation. (See, e.g., *Ravell v. U.S.* (9th Cir. 1994) 22 F.3d 960, 963 & fn. 3 (*Ravell*.) But another decision takes a conflicting position, treating the landowner’s express authorization as unnecessary—without explaining why the statute permits that result. (See *Calhoon v. Lewis* (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 108, 113–114 (*Calhoon*.)

The Court of Appeal’s decision here aggravates this conflict in the law. In a divided, published opinion, the court holds that a child’s decision to invite a friend onto his parents’ property without his parents’ knowledge constitutes an invitation by the landowner parents. According to the majority, the express invitation exception does not require that the invitation come from the landowner. Instead, a child who lives with his

landowner parents enjoys implied authority to issue invitations on his parents' behalf. Under the majority's rule, an invitation by the child presumptively strips the parents of immunity even if the parents never approved the invitation or even knew about it.

As the dissenting justice explains, the majority's holding conflicts with the plain language of section 846 and past decisions interpreting the statute. Unless this Court grants review, trial courts will be forced to choose between competing rules of law, producing inconsistent results in the many cases in which recreational use immunity is a make-or-break issue.

The need for guidance extends beyond the California courts. When a plaintiff injured on federal land sues the United States government, premises liability turns on whether the government would be liable if it were a private party sued under state law. (See *Klein v. United States* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 68, 74 (*Klein*)). As a result, federal courts routinely apply section 846 and its express invitation exception—and, of course, they look to California courts for guidance when they do so.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- A. Gunner Young invites Mikayla Hoffmann to his parents' property without telling his parents. While on the property, Mikayla is injured in a motorcycle accident.**

Eighteen-year-old Gunner Young lived at home with his parents, Donald and Christina Young. (Typed opn. 1; see typed

opn. 7.) Gunner’s parents own the property. (Typed opn. 1.)¹ Along with the family residence, the property includes a motocross track. (Typed opn. 1.)

Gunner invited a friend, Mikayla Hoffmann, to visit the property. (Typed opn. 1.) Gunner’s parents had never met or seen Mikayla before. (4 RT 956:10–15; 6 RT 1605:11–12; 7 RT 1903:27–1904:4; 8 RT 2138:16–25.) Mikayla had never been to the property, and Gunner’s parents had never invited her over. (4 RT 956:16–18; 6 RT 1605:13–15; 8 RT 2139:2–8.)

Mikayla accepted Gunner’s invitation, and she brought her own motorcycle with her. (See typed opn. 1.) Gunner did not tell his parents that he was inviting Mikayla to their property that day. (8 RT 2182:1–5.) As a result, Gunner’s parents did not know that Mikayla was coming over. (6 RT 1605:14; 7 RT 1903:23–26; 8 RT 2138:27–2139:11; see 8 RT 2182:1–5.)

Once on the property, Mikayla rode her motorcycle on the motocross track. (Typed opn. 1.) Mikayla’s motorcycle collided with Gunner’s motorcycle, and she was injured. (*Ibid.*)

B. Mikayla sues Gunner and his family. Gunner’s parents successfully assert recreational use immunity.

Mikayla sued Gunner, his brother, and his parents, alleging negligent design of the motocross track and negligent provision of medical care. (See typed opn. 2.) Gunner’s parents

¹ For the sake of brevity, we generally refer to individual parties by their first names. We refer to Donald and Christina Young together as “Gunner’s parents.”

asserted a recreational use immunity defense to Mikayla's negligent track-design claim. (See *ibid.*) In response, Mikayla invoked the express invitation exception. (See typed opn. 7.) The trial court suggested that the exception did not apply because there was no evidence that Gunner's parents invited Mikayla to their property and because Gunner, who did extend the invitation, was not the landowner. (Typed opn. 6–7.)²

Given this ruling, the trial court instructed the jury that the express invitation exception applies only if one of Gunner's parents invited Mikayla to their property. (Typed opn. 7.) The jury returned a defense verdict on all claims. (3 CT 704–713.) On Mikayla's negligent track-design claim, the jury found that recreational use immunity bars recovery. (3 CT 705.)³

² The trial court later granted Christina's motion for a partial directed verdict on the negligent track-design claim because there was no evidence that she had designed, approved, maintained, or failed to maintain the track. (11 RT 3008:5–21.) As a result, the only negligent track-design claim submitted to the jury was Mikayla's claim against Donald. (3 CT 705–708.)

³ The verdict form did not ask the jury to make any findings on the express invitation exception. (Typed opn. 6.) Since it was undisputed that the invitation came from Gunner, not his parents, the jury instruction necessarily decided the issue against Mikayla. (Typed opn. 7.)

C. In a divided, published opinion, the Court of Appeal holds that Gunner’s invitation to Mikayla falls within the express invitation exception.

Mikayla appealed, challenging the trial court’s ruling that the express invitation exception requires an invitation by Gunner’s parents.

A divided panel of the Court of Appeal sided with Mikayla in a published opinion. The majority acknowledged it was undisputed that Gunner—not Gunner’s parents—invited Mikayla onto the property. (Typed opn. 1–2, 7.) Even so, the majority held that “Gunner’s express invitation of [Mikayla] stripped his parents of the immunity that would otherwise have been provided to them by section 846.” (Typed opn. 2.) The majority asserted that by allowing Gunner to live on their property, Gunner’s parents had “impliedly permit[ted] him to invite friends to the property.” (Typed opn. 5.) In the majority’s view, this implied authority meant that Gunner was acting as his parents’ agent when he invited Mikayla, so his “invitation is deemed to have been expressly extended by his parents, the landowner[s].” (*Ibid.*) The majority found “persuasive” the Court of Appeal’s decision in *Calhoon, supra*, 81 Cal.App.4th 108, which treated an invitation by the landowners’ son as an invitation by the landowners. (Typed opn. 4; see typed opn. 9.)

The majority then restated its holding in broader terms “as a guidepost for the trial courts and the bar.” (Typed opn. 8.) “Where the landowner and the landowner’s child are living together on the landowner’s property with the landowner’s

consent, the child’s express invitation of a person to come onto the property operates as an express invitation by the landowner within the meaning of section 846, subdivision (d)(3), unless the landowner prohibited the child from extending the invitation.” (*Ibid.*; see typed opn. 2.)

In light of this holding, the court reversed and remanded for a new trial on Mikayla’s negligent track-design claim. (Typed opn. 6–7, 10.)⁴

Justice Perren dissented. He concluded that the “clear and specific” language of section 846’s express invitation exception instructs that “only the landowner may issue the invitation unless the landowner expressly authorizes an agent to do so.” (Dis. typed opn. 2–3.) He noted a long line of authority reiterating that the exception requires a direct, personal invitation by the landowner. (Dis. typed opn. 4, citing *Wang v. Nibbelink* (2016) 4 Cal.App.5th 1, 32 (*Wang*), *Jackson, supra*, 94 Cal.App.4th at p. 1116, and *Ravell, supra*, 22 F.3d at p. 963.) He added that his division’s own prior decision in *Johnson, supra*, 21 Cal.App.4th 310 “undermines” the majority’s approach. (Dis. typed opn. 4.)

Justice Perren lamented the majority’s decision to create a new presumption that a child’s invitation is deemed an express invitation by the child’s parents. (Dis. typed opn. 2–3.) In his view, the majority had improperly “rewritten the unambiguous

⁴ The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment for defendants on the claims for negligent provision of medical care. (Typed opn. 8–9.)

language in the statute,” judicially amending it to encompass “ ‘persons who are expressly [*or by implication*] invited rather than merely permitted to come upon the premises by the landowner.’ ” (Dis. typed opn. 3, quoting § 846, subd. (d)(3).)

Defendants petitioned for rehearing, asking the Court of Appeal to address undisputed facts that compel affirmance of the judgment based on recreational use immunity. The majority denied the petition, and Justice Perren dissented from that denial.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. This Court should grant review to decide whether the express invitation exception applies to an invitation by a nonlandowner without the landowner’s knowledge or approval.

A. Courts are divided on this question.

The express invitation exception is limited to “persons who are expressly invited rather than merely permitted to come upon the premises by the landowner.” (§ 846, subd. (d)(3).) The statute draws the line between those who are “expressly invited” by the landowner and those who are “merely permitted” by the landowner to enter. (*Ibid.*) But despite the statute’s apparent clarity, lower courts have interpreted the exception in conflicting ways.

One line of cases interprets the statute to mean what its plain language suggests: that the exception applies only if the landowner makes a direct, personal invitation to the plaintiff. *Johnson* exemplifies this rule. There, Unocal owned picnic

grounds, which it made available for recreational use by the public. (*Johnson, supra*, 21 Cal.App.4th at p. 312.) Plaintiff's employer, Abex, reserved the property for its annual company picnic. (*Ibid.*) Abex employees "knew they could attend simply by purchasing a ticket" from the company. (*Id.* at p. 313.) Plaintiff bought a ticket and attended the picnic, where he injured himself. (*Ibid.*) He then sued Unocal, asserting that the express invitation exception abrogated Unocal's recreational use immunity. (*Id.* at pp. 313, 317.) The Court of Appeal rejected plaintiff's contention, however, because there was no evidence of "a direct, personal request *from Unocal to [plaintiff]* to attend this picnic." (*Id.* at p. 317, emphasis added.) This meant plaintiff was "not an express invitee of Unocal," and he thus did "not fall within the exception to immunity established by section 846 for express invitees." (*Ibid.*) *Johnson's* holding is clear: for the exception to apply, the invitation must come from the landowner.

Other California decisions have reaffirmed that the term "[e]xpress invitation' in section 846 refers to a direct, personal request *by the landowner* to persons whom the landowner *personally selects* to come onto the property." (*Wang, supra*, 4 Cal.App.5th at p. 32, emphasis added; *Jackson, supra*, 94 Cal.App.4th at p. 1116 ["This 'express invitation' exception requires a direct, personal request from the landowner to the invitee to enter the property"].) This makes sense because the statutory term "landowner" has a specific, narrow meaning: it "can only logically refer to the owner of the fee." (*Jackson*, at p. 1118.)

The Ninth Circuit and federal district courts have adopted the same interpretation. (See *Ravell, supra*, 22 F.3d at p. 963 [exception requires a “direct personal invitation” from the landowner, and “*Johnson* correctly sets forth the law of California”]; *Kolar v. U.S.* (C.D.Cal. 2020) 445 F.Supp.3d 628, 634 (*Kolar*) [exception requires “a direct, personal request by the landowner”]; *Spence v. U.S.* (E.D.Cal. 2009) 629 F.Supp.2d 1068, 1089 (*Spence*) [exception did not apply because plaintiff failed to show a “purported Government express invitation to [plaintiff] to come onto [federal land]”].)

In some of these cases, the plaintiff was expressly invited to the property by someone other than the landowner. But unlike the Court of Appeal’s decision here, these cases conclude that an express invitation by someone else does not strip the landowner of immunity unless the landowner expressly authorizes the invitation.

Ravell applied this approach. There, a servicemember stationed at a United States military base invited his mother to attend an air show at the base. (*Ravell, supra*, 22 F.3d at p. 961.) She tripped and fell at the air show, then sued the federal government. (*Ibid.*) Although her son had expressly invited her to the base, the Ninth Circuit held that the son’s invitation did not bring the case within the express invitation exception because there was no evidence “to indicate that [the son] was, in any sense, authorized to make express invitations on behalf of the United States.” (*Id.* at p. 963, fn. 3.)

Likewise, in *Jackson*, the Court of Appeal held that an easement holder did not lose its recreational use immunity even though the landowner's daughter expressly invited children to play on the property. (*Jackson, supra*, 94 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1116–1119.) The Court of Appeal presumed that the landowner could grant her daughter authority to extend an invitation on the landowner's behalf, but no evidence showed that the easement holder authorized the invitation (or even could have done so). (*Ibid.*; see *Prince v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co.* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1151, 1160, fn. 5 [describing *Jackson* as a case in which plaintiff “received an express invitation from [the landowner's daughter] to enter the . . . property, under authority given to [her] by [the landowner]”].)

Applying the same rule, a federal district court held on summary judgment that the exception potentially applied because senior military officials had “told” a National Guard officer “to bring his family” and reiterated that instruction in two newsletters. (*H.S. by and through Parde v. United States* (S.D.Cal., Aug. 13, 2019, No. 3:17-cv-02418-BTM-KSC) 2019 WL 3803804, at p. *1 (*H.S.*) [nonpub. opn.].) Thus, unlike in *Ravell*, a jury could have inferred that the officer “*was* authorized to extend an invitation on behalf of the United States.” (*Id.* at p. *5.)

The conflict in the case law stems from *Calhoon, supra*, 81 Cal.App.4th 108. There, the defendants were homeowners. (*Id.* at p. 111.) Their son, who lived at home, invited a friend onto the property. (*Id.* at pp. 111–112.) The friend hurt himself while

skateboarding in the driveway. (*Id.* at pp. 110–111.) The Court of Appeal reasoned that because the son “personally invited [his friend] to come onto the . . . property,” “[t]his would seem to easily bring this case into [the statute’s] ‘expressly invited’ exception.” (*Id.* at p. 113.) Given this express invitation, the court held that section 846 did not shield the parents from liability. (*Id.* at p. 114.)

Calhoon invites competing interpretations. The parents did not dispute that their son’s invitation should be attributed to them, so the Court of Appeal treated the son’s invitation *as if* it were an invitation by the parents, without addressing whether that distinction matters. (See *Calhoon, supra*, 81 Cal.App.4th at pp. 113–114; RB 37–38 & fn. 9 [discussing the briefing in *Calhoon*, of which the Court of Appeal took judicial notice in this case].) Thus, *Calhoon* is arguably a *sui generis* decision.

Yet *Calhoon* could also be read to support another, more extreme interpretation of the statute: that the landowner’s authorization is unnecessary, at least when the invitation comes from the landowner’s child. *Calhoon* arguably treats the invitation by the son as enough, standing alone, to “easily” fall within the exception, without suggesting that his parents’

knowledge and approval was required. (*Calhoon, supra*, 81 Cal.App.4th at p. 113.)⁵

B. The Court of Appeal’s erroneous decision aggravates this conflict in the law.

The decision below turns this muddle into an open conflict. The majority follows *Calhoon, supra*, 81 Cal.App.4th 108, finding its “reasoning” to be “persuasive.” (Typed opn. 3–4.) Indeed, the majority adopts an extreme interpretation of *Calhoon*, asserting that the “fair import of *Calhoon*” is that “there is implied agency to let [the] son invite, and expressly consent, to allow a person to come onto his parents’ land,” thereby stripping his parents of section 846 immunity even if they were unaware of the invitation. (Typed opn. 9–10.) The majority’s approach aggravates the conflict in the law, and does so in the wrong direction.

Most obviously, the majority deepens the conflict by rewriting section 846. Brushing aside the express invitation exception’s plain language, the majority chides the dissent as a “slave to literalism” for hewing to the statutory text. (Typed opn. 9.) By holding that the phrase “expressly invited . . . by the landowner” (§ 846, subd. (d)(3)) should not be read literally, the

⁵ The Court of Appeal in *Calhoon* nevertheless affirmed the judgment for defendants based on the assumption of risk doctrine. (*Calhoon, supra*, 81 Cal.App.4th at pp. 115–118.) The injured friend petitioned for review, but presumably did not seek review of the express invitation issue because the Court of Appeal decided that issue in his favor. (See *Calhoon*, review den. Dec. 20, 2000, S089805.)

majority’s approach conflicts with *Johnson* and other decisions that say the exception requires a direct, personal invitation from the landowner. (*Johnson, supra*, 21 Cal.App.4th at p. 317; see *Wang, supra*, 4 Cal.App.5th at p. 32; *Jackson, supra*, 94 Cal.App.4th at p. 1116; *Ravell, supra*, 22 F.3d at p. 963.)

Though the majority acknowledges *Johnson*, it purports to distinguish it because *Johnson* did not involve an invitation from a landowner’s child. (Typed opn. 4.) Yet the majority fails to consider the underlying rationale for *Johnson*’s holding: the statute says the invitation must be made by the landowner, and that rule applies regardless of the specific factual setting. (See *Johnson, supra*, 21 Cal.App.4th at p. 317.) By holding that the exception applies here—where the landowners did *not* extend the invitation and did not even know that the invitation had been made—the majority rejects *Johnson*’s reading of the statute. (See dis. typed opn. 4–5 [noting conflict with *Johnson*].)

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