2d. Civ. No. B292539 San Luis Obispo No. 16CVP0060

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MIKAYLA HOFFMANN, by and through)	No. S266003
her Guardian ad Litem AMY	
JABCOBSEN,	
Plaintiff and Appellant,	
)	
vs.	
)	
CHRISTINA M. YOUNG, et al.,	
)	
Defendants and Respondents.)	

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION SIX, REPORTED AT 56 Cal.App.5th 1021

ANDRADE LAW OFFICES, APC Steven R. Andrade – SBN 079718 Taylor R. Dann – SBN 312083 211 Equestrian Avenue Santa Barbara, CA 93101 Tel. (805) 962-4944 steve@andrade4law.com

Counsel for Plaintiff and Appellant

#

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

## Legal Argument

<u>I.</u>

# THE DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL IS CORRECT AND NEITHER CREATES, NOR AGGRAVATES ANY CONFLICT IN AUTHORITY.

It appears that Respondents are asking this Court to rule, as a matter of law, that the settled law of agency does not pertain to "landowners" within the meaning of the recreational use immunity codified at Civil Code section 846.<sup>5</sup> In other words. Respondents' implicit argument is that <u>only the landowner personally</u>, i.e., himself, or herself, has the authority to issue the "express invitation" that would negate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As noted, the <u>exception</u> to the recreational use immunity conferred by the Legislature provides, in part, "[t]his section does not limit the liability which otherwise exists for... [a]ny persons who are expressly invited rather than merely permitted to come upon the premises <u>by the landowner</u>." (Civ. Code § 846, subd. (d)(3); underlining added.)

immunity, *or*, *if* the landowner may delegate that authority, it must be express.

The Court of Appeal, in addressing the dissenting panel member's similarly strict construction, exposed its infirmities:

The statute does not even purport to deal with the law of agency, which is a staple of both common and statutory law. By the dissent theory, only a fee simple owner of property is a "landowner" and only he or she, personally, can give consent. We do not purport to confer principalagent status to son for business or other purposes. We only hold that for purposes of section 846 immunity, the son of a "landowner" can invite, i.e., expressly consent, to bring a person onto the land. This eviscerates section 846 immunity and this is the fair import of *Calhoon*.

Can a managing agent of real property, expressly employed for such purpose, expressly consent for a person to come upon his principal's land with the principal still enjoying section 846 immunity? No. Here, of course, there is no express agency. But, there is implied agency to let son invite, and expressly consent, to allow a person to come onto his parents' land. This eviscerates section 846 immunity.

(*Hoffmann v. Young*, supra, 271 Cal. Rptr. 3d 33, 40; Slip Opinion, pp. 9 – 10; emphasis added.),

On appeal, but tellingly not in their instant Petition, Respondents focused on the use of the property for dirt-bike riding, rather than on more general social purposes. In their Respondents' Brief below, they emphasized that, "Gunner's parents prohibited anyone other than family

members <u>from using that track</u>. (7 RT 1901:13-27; 8 RT 2135:25-2137:9, 2172:26-2173:19.)." (RB 15.) (Emphasis added.)

That evidence, along with Donald Young's testimony that "Unaware to me, [Mikayla] was riding on the track, but never invited by me <u>or any</u> <u>of our family..."</u> (6 Tr. 1605; AOB, p. 22) (Emphasis added), implies that while Gunner's authority to invite persons onto the property <u>seemingly</u> did not extend to the use of the dirt-bike track, it was not otherwise restricted, or limited.

But, as one of the decisions cited and relied on by Respondents has clarified, "...the invitation need not be for the specific purpose of engaging in recreation." (Jackson v. Pac. Gas & Elec. Co. (2001) 94

Cal. App. 4th 1110, 1116, as modified (Jan. 7, 2002), as modified on denial of reh'g (Jan. 24, 2002).) (Emphasis added.) In other words, it does not matter whether Mikayla was invited for the specific purpose of dirt-bike riding, but only that she was "expressly invited" onto the Young's property for any purpose to implicate the exception to recreational use immunity. (See, also, Pac. Gas & Elec. Co. v. Superior Court (2017) 10

Cal. App. 5th 563, 588, as modified on denial of reh'g (Apr. 20, 2017), review denied (July 19, 2017) ["...the express invitation exception applies even when the plaintiff has no recreational purpose in visiting a premises;

immunity is abrogated by an invitation <u>for any purpose</u>."].) (Emphasis added.)<sup>6</sup>

None of the authority cited by Respondents holds that the "landowner" may not delegate the authority to extend an "express invitation" within the meaning of Civil Code section 846, subdivision (d)(3). Indeed, it would be remarkably obtuse for Respondents to so promiscuously cite ("passim") *Ravell v. U.S.* (9th Cir. 1994) 22 F.3d 960, and then deny that the Ninth Circuit's decision turned on whether Ms. Ravell had been "expressly invited" to attend an air show at a U.S. military installation open to the general public, rather on whether someone other than the Commander-in-Chief, the Secretary of Defense, the Secretary of the Air Force, etc., *personally* was authorized to issue that invitation. The presumption that such delegation of authority existed, and was cognizable under Civil Code section 846, is clear:

6

<sup>6</sup> Despite Respondents' argument to the contrary (RB, p. 47), the court below held that, "The trial court instructed the jury with CACI No. 1010, which provides in part that the express invitation exception to the immunity defense applies only if the invitation was for a "recreational purpose." This language is erroneous and should be deleted from the instruction. Nowhere in the statute (§ 846, subd. (d)(3)) is there such a requirement. (Calhoon, supra, 81 Cal.App.4th at p. 114, 96 Cal.Rptr.2d 394; Pacific Gas & Electric Co. v. Superior Court, supra, 10 Cal.App.5th at p. 588, 216 Cal.Rptr.3d 426; Jackson v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co. (2001) 94 Cal.App.4th 1110, 1116, 114 Cal.Rptr.2d 831.)." (Hoffmann, supra, 271 Cal. Rptr. 3d 33, 39; Slip Opinion, p. 7.) That holding is not challenged by Respondents' Petition for Review.

Ravell's son's request that she come to the show does not advance her cause. She presented no facts to indicate that he was, in any sense, authorized to make express invitations on behalf of the United States which went beyond the advertised invitation to the general public. Liability cannot turn on such ephemera as a son's asking his mother to come to a public event.

(Ravell v. United States, 22 F.3d 960, 963, n. 3; emphasis added.)

Similarly unavailing is Respondents' manful attempt (at Pet., p. 15, et seq) to not only distance themselves from Ravell's footnote 3, but to also create a conflict between that decision and a United States District Court's ruling that a subordinate officer apparently had authority to issue such an "express invitation" within the meaning of Civil Code section 846.

As Appellant noted in her Reply Brief below, following the filing of the AOB, but prior to the filing of the RB, Honorable Barry Teb Moskowitz, United States District Judge, Southern District of California, had occasion to consider the *Ravell* decision in a context analogous to that presented here. (*H.S. by & through Parde v. United States*, No. 317-CV-02418-BTM (KSC), 2019 WL 3803804, (S.D. Cal. Aug. 13, 2019).)

An extended recitation of the pertinent passages of the district court's ruling is appropriate, but apparently misunderstood by Respondents, who cited it at Pet., pp. 18 - 23:

...as to the "express invitation" exception (*i.e.*, § 846(d) (3)), Plaintiff argues that H.S. was expressly invited to the Armory by way of Captain Rankin's statements in

the Newsletters and/or by SSG Shears via the authority delegated to him by Captain Rankin via his statements in the Newsletters. In response, the United States argues that, because the Newsletters "did not specifically address particular family members by name, type of family member, or otherwise", it was not a direct and personal invitation and therefore insufficient to constitute an express invitation. (ECF No. 50, at 23-25.) It further argues that SSG Shears had "no authority to personally invite family members on behalf of the United States." (ECF No. 52, at 8 n.4.) Yet there is no support in the case law for the purported requirement that H.S. be personally-named in the Newsletters to constitute a "direct and personal" invitation. Rather, all that is required is that the invitation be direct, personal, and to a person personally selected by the landowner. See Wang v. Nibbelink, 4 Cal. App. 5th 1, 32 (2016) (" 'Express invitation' in section 846 refers to a direct, personal request by the landowner to persons whom the landowner personally selects to come onto the property") (citations omitted). Further, the parties do not cite, and the Court is unable to locate, prior decisions that directly define what constitutes a "direct, personal" request or what it means for a landowner to "personally select" a person to invite. Rather, these concepts have generally been defined by exclusion. See Phillips v. United States, 590 F.2d 297, 299 (9th Cir. 1979) ("[I]t seems evident to us that the Legislature did not intend to include within the concept of express invitation, used in section 846, any invitation to the general public."); Calhoon v. Lewis, 81 Cal. App. 4th 108, 115, 96 Cal. Rptr. 2d 394, 398 (2000) ("[P]ersons responding to advertisements, brochures, promotional materials, and other public offers are not **express invitees** under the [Recreational Use] statute."); Johnson, 21 Cal. App. 4th at 317 (employer's execution of a rental agreement with landowner in connection with use of premises for employer's company picnic did not constitute an express invitation from landowner to employer's employees).

... Moreover, the United States' reliance on a footnote in Ravell for the proposition that an invitation from a service member to his family members cannot constitute an express invitation from the United States overstates the holding in *Ravell*. Ravell, 22 F.3d at 961, 963 n.3 (invitation by service member to his mother to attend "widely-attended" airshow advertised to the general public attended by over 300,000 people was insufficient to constitute express invitation where the mother "presented no facts to indicate that [service member] was, in any sense, authorized to make express invitations on behalf of the United States which went beyond the advertised invitation to the general public"). Unlike in Ravell, Plaintiff has presented facts indicating that SSG Shears was authorized to extend an invitation on behalf of the United States by Captain Rankin exhortations in the Newsletters

Nevertheless, because genuine disputes of material fact exist as to whether Captain Rankin and/or SSG Shears had sufficient authority, whether through delegation or otherwise, to invite H.S. onto the Armory on behalf of the United States, and therefore whether the "express invitation" exception to the Recreational Use statute is triggered, summary judgment in favor of either party is inappropriate.

(H.S. by & through Parde v. United States, 2019 WL 3803804, at \*5-6.) (Underlining added.)

Here, the consistent, persistent argument of Respondents, <u>prior to the decision by the court below</u>, has been that Gunner did not have authority to invite Mikayla *to ride on the Young's dirt-bike track*, NOT that he lacked authority to invite her onto the property for *any purpose*.

The question, then, is whether under California law the holding by the Court below (and in *Calhoon*) of implied agency is appropriate. (Cf. 32

Cal. Jur. 3d <u>Family Law</u> § 358 ["The parent-child relation, taken in connection with other circumstances, may be entitled to considerable weight tending to establish the fact of agency. Also, as is true generally in the law of agency, a child's unauthorized act can become binding on the parent through the latter's ratification."].)

Certainly, the fact that it was the landowners' living-at-home child who issued the "express invitation" fills the evidentiary void noted in *Ravell* by Judge Moskowitz in the penultimate paragraph quoted above; it supports the Court of Appeal's finding of "implied agency" in the case of a living-at-home adult child:

Actual authority may be conferred either expressly or by necessary implication. Thus, in the law of agency, actual authority takes two forms: (1) express authority, and (2) authority that is implied or incidental to a grant of express authority. Thus, actual authority may be implied by the words and conduct of the parties. This principle finds recognition in the statute defining actual authority as including that which the principal intentionally, or by want of ordinary care, allows the agent to believe himself or herself to possess. As indicated by this statute, no implied authority exists unless the agent believes that he or she has such authority, and this belief must be reasonable.

(2B Cal. Jur. 3d Agency § 66; emphasis added.) (See, also, Hoffmann, supra, 271 Cal.Rptr. 33, 37 - 38.)

As noted, Respondents acknowledge that Gunner invited to Mikayla to come onto the Young's property---he even transported Mikayla and her

dirt-bike to the residence while his parents were at home. Presumably, then, Gunner believed that he was authorized to invite her, and under California law (Civ. C. § 2316), there cannot be "implied authority" unless the purported agent believes that he has such authority. (*Columbia Outfitting Co. v. Freeman* (1950) 36 Cal. 2d 216, 219.) Indeed, and as noted, Respondents have never denied that Gunner had authority to invite Mikayla, or anyone, to come onto the property.

Similarly, Mikayla, by accepting Gunner's invitation to visit the home he shared with his parents---the titled "landowners"---implicitly and reasonably believed that Gunner was authorized to issue that invitation. Under California law, "'Ostensible authority is such as a principal, intentionally or by want of ordinary care, causes or allows a third person to believe the agent to possess.' (Civ.Cide section 2317; see also Restatement, Agency §§ 8, 27.) 'A principal is bound by acts of his agent, under a merely ostensible authority, to those persons only who have in good faith, and without want of ordinary care, incurred a liability or parted with value, upon the faith thereof.' (Civ.Code section 2334.)." (Columbia Outfitting, supra, 36 Cal. 2d 216, 219–20.)

The Court of Appeal's reliance on "common sense" is justified and beyond dispute because anyone receiving Gunner's invitation to visit <u>his</u> home would unquestionably assume he was authorized to issue it. It was

also an appropriate harmonization of Civ. C. §846(d)(3) with the statutory scheme that is the codification of the common law pertaining to "agency," Civ. C. § 2295, et seq. (See, e.g., Younger v. Superior Court (1978) 21 Cal.3d 102, 113, citations omitted ["It is a settled principle of statutory interpretation that language of a statute should not be given a literal meaning if doing so would result in absurd consequences which the Legislature did not intend."]; see, also, People v. Pieters (1991) 52 Cal. 3d 894, 898, citation omitted ["... we do not construe statutes in isolation, but rather read every statute "with reference to the entire scheme of law of which it is part so that the whole may be harmonized and retain effectiveness."].)

Finally, and as noted, Respondents' counsel represented, on the record, that, "I'm not arguing status of the Plaintiff as a trespasser. That's not an issue in the case." (1 Tr. 77; emphasis added.) (Cited and quoted at AOB, pp. 26 – 27.) That clearly implies that Gunner was authorized to invite, and did invite, Mikayla to the Young's property on the day she was injured because, as the Court will know, "The essence of the cause of action for trespass is an "unauthorized entry" onto the land of another.' [Citation.]' (Miller v. National Broadcasting Co. (1986) 187 Cal.App.3d 1463, 1480.)." (McBride v. Smith (2018) 18 Cal. App. 5th 1160, 1174.) (Emphasis added.) If Mikayla was not a trespasser, then she was

an *authorized*<sup>7</sup> entrant, a status she achieved by virtue of Gunner's "express invitation."

As the Court of Appeal correctly reasoned:

Our holding does not undermine the purpose of section 846, which was enacted in 1963. "The statutory goal was to constrain the growing tendency of private landowners to bar public access to their land for recreational uses out of fear of incurring tort liability. [Citations.]" (*Hubbard v. Brown* (1990) 50 Cal.3d 189, 193, 266 Cal.Rptr. 491, 785 P.2d 1183.) Section 846 immunity from tort liability remains as to persons from the general public. Appellant was not a member of the general public. She was an expressly invited guest.

(*Hoffmann*, supra, 56 Cal. App. 5th 1021, 271 Cal. Rptr. 3d 33, 38; emphasis added.)

### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, for all the reasons set forth above, the

Respondents' Petition for Review should be DENIED.